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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS
DECISION

Gregory Hughes-Simmons requests review of the Court of

Appeals' unpublished decision in State v. Hughes-Simmons,

No. 58643-6-11, (June 10, 2025).J

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Is review warranted to determine whether

insufficient evidence supports the firearm sentencing

enhancements?

2. Is review warranted to determine whether Hughes-

Simmons was denied effective assistance of conflict free

counsel when forced to proceed with an attorney with a conflict

of interest?

3. Is review warranted to determine whether counsel

was ineffective in failing to object to, or mitigate admission of,

evidence concerning Hughes-Simmons' criminal history and

uncharged acts?

The opinion is attached as an appendix. A motion for
reconsideration was denied on August 11,2025.
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4. Is review warranted to determine whether the trial

court erroneously refused to consider Hughes-Simmons'

motion for a new trial and whether the Court of Appeals failure

to reach the merits of this argument deprived Hughes-

Simmons' of his constitutional right to appeal?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In September 2021, Hughes-Simmons' community

custody officer, Howard Chea, received information alleging

Hughes-Simmons had violated a community custody condition

of his Drug Offender Sentencing Alternative. RP 284,302,305-

06. Chea called Hughes-Simmons into his office, placed him

under arrest, and read him his rights. Hughes-Simmons invoked

his right to silence. RP 299,306-07, 315.

Hughes-Simmons was driven to the apartment of his

children's mother, Naquaisha IVIays, so officers could conduct a

search of the apartment. RP 306-07. According to Chea and

Department of Corrections (DOC) Officer Bryan Piek, Hughes-

Simmons resided there. RP 274, 306-07. Hughes-Simmons was
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secured in a DOC vehicle and guarded by a DOC officer during

the entirety of the search. RP 316, 363-64.

DOC officers searched the house and discovered two

safes in an upstairs bedroom. RP 275-76, 307-08. Officers said

men's clothing, cologne, and mail addressed to Hughes-

Simmons were inside the bedroom. RP 276, 309-10. Mays said

Hughes-Simmons slept in another room when spending the

night. RP 276.

One safe was white and locked. RP 276. Officers located

the key. RP 276. In this safe, Piek testified he found "a small

amount of unknown yellow pills and I believe a scale and

baggies[.]" RP 278.

The other safe was black. RP 276, 307-08. Mays initially

denied knowing where the key to this safe was. RP 273, 286,

317. Hughes-Simmons replied, "Nope" when asked if he knew.

RP 285-86. Mays repeatedly stated the contents of the safe,

including a fireann, were hers. RP 278-79, 285, 317.

Eventually, Mays produced the key to the black safe. RP 286,
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317. A Glock pistol, a bag of blue-colored pills, multiple gun

magazines, ammunition, a scale, haggles, and a black substance

officers thought was heroin, was inside. RP 287, 311. DOC

officers contacted police to handle evidence collection. RP 311,

357.

Officer Ryan Hamilton collected a Glock 23/.40 caliber

handgun, multiple weapon magazines, a rifle magazine,

suspected fentanyl pills, about half an ounce of heroin, and

"what I believe to be, ecstasy, a small amount." RP 224-25,

227. DOC officers had already removed everything from the

safes. RP 260. Hamilton testified the Glock had a fully loaded

magazine with a round in the chamber. RP 249. Hamilton said

firearm ownership or possession was "consistent with [his]

observation of distribution of street narcotics" because "I have

seen a lot of people who are selling drugs carry firearms for

their own protection so that they are not robbed of their money

or their product in what we call drug rips" RP 249.

-4-



A field test confirmed one substance was heroin. RP 231.

A subsequent lab analysis of one of the blue/green pills and the

black tar like substance were positive for fentanyl and heroin.

RP 337, 340, 351. Testing also confirmed the firearm was

operable. RP 321-22.

When officers arrested Mays based on her stated

ownership of the safe contents, Hughes-Simmons began

screaming from the car. RP 223-24, 360. Hughes-Simmons then

claimed the dmgs and the gun were his. RP 227. Mays said she

loved Hughes-Simmons and was trying to protect him. RP 263,

360.

After being re-mirandized, Hughes-Simmons gave a

statement detailing drug pricing. RP 227-30, 261. Hughes-

Simmons also stated Mays had initially acquired the gun for

herself, but it was now his. RP 228. Hughes-Simmons said

nothing about using any firearm in connection with any drug

business. Hamilton acknowledged Hughes-Simmons'

statements could have been an attempt to protect Mays. RP 263.
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Hughes-Simmons was charged with two counts of

possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver

(fentanyl and heroin) and one count of first-degree unlawful

possession of a firearm. CP 3-5. Each drug charge included a

firearm sentencing enhancement. CP 4-5.

Before trial, defense counsel moved to withdraw. RP 3-5.

Counsel explained he had intended to call Mays as a witness.

RP 3-5; see also MRP 3-8 (defense motion to continue based on

contacting Mays). Defense included Mays on its witness list,

and she had given testimony favorable to Hughes-Simmons in

the DOC violation proceeding regarding the same incident, in

which Hughes-Simmons was found not guilty of all violations.

Pretrial Ex. 5; CP 518; RP 14. Consistent with her DOC

testimony, Mays could have testified the safe contents were

hers and could explain whether Hughes-Simmons even stayed

in the room with the safes. Pretrial Ex. 5 at 1, 7-10 (providing

such testimony in DOC proceeding); RP 14 (defense counsel

acknowledging Mays' DOC testimony).
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Instead of calling IVIays as a witness, however, defense

counsel represented he had a conflict of interest. RP 4-5.

Pursuant to RPC 3.3, counsel claimed he had an obligation not

to present Mays' testimony. RP 4-5. The trial court noted the

distinction in RCP 3.3 between the prohibition on knowingly

offering false evidence and the permission not to offer evidence

reasonably believed to be false. RP 5-6; see RPC 3.3(a)(4), (e).

Defense counsel contended due to his disagreement with

Hughes-Simmons about calling Mays as a witness, he should

withdraw pursuant to RPC 1.16(b)(l), (2), or (3), permitting a

lawyer to withdraw to avoid perpetrating a crime or fraud. RP

6.

Counsel recited a recent conversation with Mays and

advised her, based on her statements, she faced criminal

liability and would need to consult with a lawyer before

providing such testimony. RP 4-5. Counsel said he could not

operate fairly to Hughes-Simmons and maintain his duties to

the court if he called IVtays. RP 5. The prosecutor responded
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that lying witnesses were "not anything new" and indicated he

had statenients to impeach IVtays. RP 7.

Hughes-Simmons indicated, "I'm just lost, Your Honor.

To be honest, I'm just lost and confused. I haven't been in

contact with my attorney. I mean, I'm coming in in the dark,

you know." RP 8-9. Hughes-Simmons did not object to

counsel's withdrawal. RP 9.

The trial court denied the motion to withdraw. RP 14-15.

Citing State v. Perra,21 Wn. App. 1032, 2022 WL 837052

(Mar. 21, 2022) (unpublished), the court concluded it was

within the lawyer's prerogative not to present evidence the

lawyer reasonably believes to be false. RP 13-14. Thus, it left

the decision not to call Mays to defense counsel. RP 14-15.

The defense filed no trial motions in limine. Defense

counsel did not discuss with Hughes-Simmons the possibility of

stipulating to a prior serious offense, as an element of the first

degree unlawful possession of a firearm charge, before resting.

RP 373. The prosecution acknowledged defense counsel could
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articulate no strategic value in not entering a stipulation and

recalled "bringing this to Ryan's attention and he didn't take an

action on it." RP 374.

Indeed, before trial defense counsel stated he would not

stipulate to prior convictions, while also stating he had not even

seen the judgments and sentences in question. RP 17, 29.

During trial, the state moved to admit judgments and sentences

from two prior juvenile matters, Exhibits 20 and 21. RP 254.

Counsel objected they were "more prejudicial than probative,

and I will leave it with that." RP 254. The court overruled the

objection and admitted the exhibits. RP 254. Hamilton testified

Hughes-Simmons had juvenile convictions for attempted

residential burglary and second degree unlawful possession of a

firearm in 2006 and for attempted residential burglary in 2007.

RP 255.

The state later offered Exhibit 20A, which redacted

Hughes-Simmons' conviction for second degree unlawful

possession of a firearm. RP 374-75. Thus, exhibits 20A and 21

-9-



- showing two attempted residential burglary convictions and a

redacted conviction - went to the jury, and the jury was

instructed that attempted residential burglary qualified as a

serious offense. CP 31; Exs. 20A, 21; RP 375.

During trial the prosecution also elicited testimony

regarding uncharged conduct - possession of ecstasy. Hamilton

repeatedly testified he found a bag of pills he suspected were

ecstasy. RP 225, 239. Piek also testified he found unknown

yellow pills in the white safe. RP 278. The defense did not

object to this testimony but did subsequently object to

admission of the pills themselves as irrelevant. The court

sustained the objection and excluded the pills. RP 239-41.

During deliberations, the jury asked: "Does 'armed with

a firearm' mean the same as possession? *The wording in the

enhancement[.]" CP 39. The court commented the jury was

"comparing the possession instruction with the armed with a

firearm instruction and they are trying to figure out how the two

are different." RP 408. The court referred the jury back to its
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instructions. CP 39; RP 409. The jury also indicated it "cannot

come to a unanimous decision on any of the counts" and asked,

"Does this mean we find the defendant Not Guilty?" CP 38.

The court asked the jury to continue deliberating. CP 38; RP

411. The jury convicted Hughes-Simmons' as charged and

returned special verdicts regarding the firearm enhancements.

CP 41-45; RP 417-36.

A few weeks after the verdict, Hughes-Simmons stated

his attorney was complaining about getting paid and was

unwilling to work with him or provide adequate representation.

RP 445. Counsel was removed from the case and new counsel

appointed. RP 448-49. Hughes-Simmons subsequently filed a

pro se motion for a new trial, asserting counsel's conflict

regarding not calling Mays as a witness. CP 56-59. Hughes-

Simmons was allowed to proceed pro se. RP 457-63.

Hughes-Simmons subsequently retained new counsel,

who filed a motion for a new trial based on counsel's

ineffectiveness. CP 112-467. This included counsel's decision
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not to call Mays, elucidated information about counsel's

dissatisfaction with $2,500 to $3,500 in outstanding legal fees

and Hughes-Simmons' concerns that counsel did not object to

Hamilton's testimony about the ecstasy. RP 119-24, 130.

In addition, the motion asked the court to extend time to

file the motion and moved to continue sentencing so the motion

could be heard. CP 74-81, 118. New counsel documented the

efforts to obtain the client file and discovery from both former

defense counsel and the prosecution, noting that counsel had

only recently been able to obtain it. CP 75-77, 130-31, 135,

137-39. Former counsel stated, "perhaps when he [Hughes

Simmons] sends me a check for trying his case I can get to it,"

referring to requests for the client file. CP 139 (alteration in

original). Thus, Hughes-Simmons argued he had been diligent

in attempting to get his motions for a new trial before the court

but had been thwarted by his former attorney. The trial court

refused to consider Hughes-Simmons's motions for a new trial,

reasoning the verdicts were returned six months prior, and
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further delay in the case was not warranted. RP 475-76; CP

468.

Hughes-Simmons was sentenced to a total prison term of

159 months, including the consecutive firearm enhancements.

RP 505-09; CP 487-88.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE
ACCEPTED

1. Insufficient evidence supports the firearm
enhancements requiring them to be reversed and
dismissed.

Defendants "armed" with a deadly weapon or firearm at

the time of the commission of their crimes receive an

enhancement to their standard range sentence. RCW 9.94A.825;

RCW 9.94A.533(3), (4). A person is not armed simply because

he owns or possesses a weapon. State v. Eckenrode, 159 Wn.2d

488, 493, 150 P.3d 1116 (2007). Rather, a defendant is armed

with a firearm if (1) the firearm was easily accessible and

readily available for use either for offense or defensive

purposes during the commission of the crime, and (2) there was
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a nexus between the defendant, the firearm, and the crime. State

v. Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn.2d 798, 826, 425 P.3d 807

(2018).

To be "easily accessible and readily available," "[t]he

presence, close proximity, or constructive possession of a

firearm at the scene of the crime, by itself, is insufficient." Id.

The State "need not establish with mathematical precision the

specific time and place that a weapon was readily available and

easily accessible, so long as it was at the time of the crime," Id.

at 826-27. "The use may be either for offensive or defense

purposes, whether to facilitate the commission of the crime,

escape from the scene of the crime, protect contraband or the

like, or prevent investigation, discovery, or apprehension by the

police. State v. Gurske, 155 Wn.2d 134, 139, 118 P.3d 333

(2005).

There must also be a connection between the defendant

and the weapon and a connection between the weapon and the

crime. Id. at 141-42. Whether there is a connection between the
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weapon and the crime may depend "on the nature of the crime,

the type of weapon, and the circumstances under which the

weapon is found. Id. at 142. For example, in continuing crimes,

such as a drug operation, a nexus exists only if there is evidence

the firearm is '"there to be used'" in the commission of the

crime. Id. at 138.

A claim that the evidence is insufficient admits the truth

of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn

from that evidence. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829

P.2d 1068 (1992).

Sufficient evidence does not exist here. There is no nexus

between the firearm, the crime of possessing drugs with intent

to distribute, or between Hughes-Simmons and the firearm

during the commission of the crimes. Hughes-Simmon was

secured in the back of a DOC vehicle during the home search.

RP 316, 363-64. The loaded gun was found among dmgs, in a

locked safe to which Mays, not Hughes-Simmons, had the key.

RP 286-87, 311, 317. Although Hughes-Simmons admitted to
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owning the gun and drugs, his statement to police at the scene

did not indicate the firearm was part of the operation. For

example, there was no evidence of any other specific drug

transaction or act of possession involving a firearm. There was

also no evidence Hughes-Simmons had used the gun in

connection with any crime at issue.

The Court of Appeals reasons the gun's location in a

locked safe is immaterial because "there is a significant

difference" between possession of drugs with intent to deliver

and mere possession of a controlled substance. Op. 11-12. But

existing authority does not support such broad reasoning.

Significantly, firearms locked in safes have not typically

been deemed readily available and easily accessible for

offensive or defensive purposes, even where drug operations

were at issue. See, e.g., Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn.2d at 830

(loaded firearms locked in a safe inside car where other

evidence of possession with intent to distribute was located

were not the basis of the sentencing enhancement); State v.
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Neff, 163 Wn.2d 453, 464-65, 181 P.3d 819 (2008) (sufficient

evidence supported firearm enhancement where two guns at

methamphetamine manufacturing scene were locked in a safe

but third was not); State v. O'Neal, 159 Wn.2d 500, 503, 150

P.3d 1121 (2007) (excluding firearms in a locked safe from

enhancement despite house containing considerable evidence of

drug manufacturing); State v. Asue-Masters, 138 Wn. App. 86,

104-05, 156 P.3d 265 (2007) (insufficient evidence to support

firearm enhancement where 12 unloaded firearms were locked

in a safe 100 feet away from methamphetamine lab).

Because the Court of Appeals conclusion that sufficient

evidence supports the firearm enhancements conflicts with prior

authority from this Court, and the Court of Appeals review is

appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(l)-(2).
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2. Hughes-Simmons was denied effective conflict
free counsel when forced to proceed with any
attorney with a conflict of interest.

The federal and state constitutions guarantee the right to

the effective assistance of counsel. U.S. CONST. amends. VI,

XIV; CONST. art. I, § 22; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S.

668, 685-86 (1984); State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 32, 246 P.3d

1260 (2011). "Effective assistance of counsel includes a duty of

loyalty and a duty to avoid conflicts of interest." State v. Kitt, 9

Wn. App. 2d 235, 243, 442 P.3d 1280 (2019) (citing State v.

McDonald, 143 Wn.2d 506, 511, 22 P. 3d 791 (2001)). The

'"right to counsel guaranteed by the Constitution contemplates

the services of an attorney devoted solely to the interests of his

client.'" Mickens v. Taylor, 535 U.S. 162, 183 (2002) (quoting

Moltke v. Gillies, 332 U.S. 708, 725 (1948)).

To show a constitutional violation based on counsel's

representation of competing interests, "a defendant must

demonstrate that an actual conflict of interest adversely affected

his lawyer's performance." State v. Regan, 143 Wn. App. 418,
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427, 177 P.3d 783 (2008). This requires a showing "both that

his attorney had a conflict of interest and that he conflict

adversely affected counsel's performance." State v. Reeder, 181

Wn. App. 897, 909, 330 P.3d 786 (2014), affd, 814 Wn.2d

805, 365 P.3d 1243 (2015). Upon making this showing,

prejudice is presumed. Id.

Defense counsel is '"in the best position to determine

when a [disabling] conflict exists.'" State v. Chavez, 162 Wn.

App. 431, 439, 257 P.3d 1114 (2011) (quoting Mickens, 535 U.S.

at 167). Here, counsel stated that based on his evaluation of the

supposed falsity of Mays' testimony, he could not call her as a

witness and therefore could not advance Hughes-Simmons'

defense at trial. RP 5-6, 14. This conflict was further deepened by

counsel's admission he had not previously discussed with

Hughes-Simmons the decision not to call Mays. RP 8-9.

Relying on the unpublished opinion in State v. Perra, 21

Wn. App. 2d 1032, *4 (2022), the Court of Appeals concluded

counsel's refusal to call Mays to testify was not a conflict

-19-



because counsel was prohibited from offering testimony he knew

or reasonably believed to be false. Op. 14-15. In Perra, there was

no argument that defense counsel lacked a reasonable basis to

concluded false testimony would be presented. 21 Wn. App. 2d

1032,*4.

Here, however, Hughes-Simmons argues there was not a

reasonable basis to conclude Mays would present false testimony.

Counsel knew Mays had given favorable testimony in another

proceeding, and that favorable testimony was recorded by the

DOC hearing officer who found Hughes-Simmons not guilty of

any violation related to this incident. RP 14; Pretrial Ex. 5 at 7-

10. Counsel used Mays statements favorably at trial, as though

they were tme, asserting that everything in the safes belonged to

her, notHughes-Simmons. RP 30-31, 263, 285, 298,317,393-94,

396. Thus, counsel's purported inability to present Mays'

testimony due to its supposed falsity is contradicted by how the

defense elicited Mays' statements at trial.

-20-



Defense counsel failed to objectively represent Hughes-

Simmons' interests based on a conflict of interest he erroneously

and unreasonably perceived, resulting in exculpatory evidence

not being presented to the jury. Because counsel could not

simultaneously represent the best interest of his client and his

unreasonably perceived inability to call Mays as a witness under

RPC 3.3 (e), he operated under an actual conflict of interest, albeit

one mostly of his own unreasonable making. Hughes-Simmons

did not receive conflict-free representation. Because the opinion

departs from established precedent and is contrary to a

defendant's right to conflict free counsel, this Court should accept

review.

3. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object
to evidence of an uncharged crime and for
failing to pursue or consult with Hughes-
Simmons about a stipulation.

Counsel's performance was also deficient in other ways.

Performance is deficient if it falls '"below an objective standard

of reasonableness based on consideration of all the

-21-



:''.-.

circumstances." State v. MacFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35,

899 P.2d 1251 (1995). Prejudice exists if there is a reasonable

probability that "but for counsel's deficient performance, the

outcome of the proceedings would have been different." State

v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). A

reasonable probability is "lower than a preponderance standard"

and is a "probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the

outcome." State v. Estes, 188 Wn.2d 450, 458, 395 P.3d 1045

(2017) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694). If counsel's

performance can be characterized as legitimate strategy, it is not

deficient, but courts look to the overall fairness of the

proceedings rather than apply rules of review mechanically. Id.

at 458.

Here, three times state witnesses testified they found a

bag of yellow pills, and/or that this bag was ecstasy, a drug

Hughes-Simmons was not charged with possessing. Counsel

failed to object to this testimony. Counsel also took no steps to

strike the testimony or ask for instructions directing the jury to
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disregard the testimony. Although counsel Successfully avoided

admission of the ecstasy itself, counsel permitted the jury to

hear officers' repeated assertions that Hughes-Simmons also

possessed ecstasy. No reasonable strategy could explain an

attorney's willingness to allow evidence of uncharged conduct

to come in at trial. Counsel's performance was deficient. It was

also prejudicial because it was classic propensity evidence

which suggested Hughes-Simmons's dmg operation was more

substantial than it was, and that Hughes-Simmons had

committed other crimes.

Likewise, defense counsel allowed the jury to hear

Hughes-Simmons had been previously convicted of two counts

of attempted residential burglary and one count of second

degree possession of a firearm. The record confirms not only

that counsel failed to consider the possibility of a stipulation,

but that he also failed to discuss the matter with Hughes-

Simmons. RP 254, 373-74. Such evidence was prejudicial

because it not only inferred Hughes-Simmons had a proclivity
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for criminality, but specifically unlawful possession of firearms.

Hughes-Simmons was denied his right to effective assistance of

counsel and review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

4. The trial court erroneously refused to consider
Hughes-Simmons' motion for a new trial and
the Court of Appeals failure to reach the merits
of this argument deprived Hughes-Simmons of
his constitutional right to appeal.

The Washington Constitution guarantees criminal

defendants like Hughes-Simmons "the right to appeal in all

cases." CONST. art. I, § 22. This includes the right to have the

appellate court consider the merits of all issues raised on

appeal. State v. Rolax, 104 Wn.2d 129, 134-35, 702 P.3d 1185

(1985). The Court of Appeals opinion denies Hughes-Simmons

his right to appeal.

The current opinion acknowledges Hughes-Simmons

assigned error to the trial court's refusal to consider his motions

for a new trial and provided argument as to why the motions

provided additional information supporting his ineffective

assistance of counsel claims. Op. 18-19. Still, the Court of
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Appeals declined to reach the merits of the argument, reasoning

"[hjere, Mr. Hughes-Simmons has failed to identify the

appropriate standard of review, failed to indicate whether this

error is subject to harmless error analysis, and failed to cite

apposite legal authority supporting his argument for why the

trial court erred in not considering his motion for a new trial.

His failure to provide relevant citations to legal authority

supporting his argument is fatal to his claim, and we decline to

address its merits." Op. 19-20. This is incorrect for several

reasons.

First, Hughes-Simmons' argument on this issue is

contained in a subsection of a 3 3-page argument as to why

Hughes-Simmons received ineffective assistance of trial

counsel. See Brief of Appellant (BOA) at 36-69. This argument

includes numerous citations to apposite legal authority

regarding ineffective assistance of counsel, identifies the

appropriate standard of review, and repeatedly cites to relevant

portions of the record. BOA at 36-38, 55-56.
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Second, Hughes-Simmons' argument spans four pages,

and provides numerous citations to the record, and cites In re

Pers. Restraint of Fowler, 197 Wn.2d 46, 55-57, 479 P.3d 1164

(2021), regarding the equitable tolling of filing deadlines

related to counsel's misconduct. BOA at 65-69. In short, this

argument section satisfies the RAP 10.3(a)(6) criteria.

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals relied on State v. Elliott, 1 14

Wn.2d 6, 15, 785 P.2d 440 (1999) and Norcon Builders, LLC v.

GMP Homes GV, LLC, 161 Wn. App. 474, 486,254 P.3d 835

(2011), to conclude it would not consider inadequately briefed

arguments. Op. 19. Neither case is factually comparable to

Hughes-Simmons' case.

In Elliott, the "petitioner did not directly raise th[e] issue"

"did not refer specifically to the jury instructions given, nor did

she cite any alternate means cases." 114 Wn.2d at 15. Similarly,

in Norcon, the "allegations lack[ed] evidentiary or legal

support-their argument on the first estoppel element does not

contain a single citation to the record or legal authority." 161
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Wn. App. at 486. As already discussed, Hughes-Simmons' brief

cites both the record and legal authority in support of the

argument to which error was specifically assigned. Construing

Hughes-Simmons' case with Elliott and Norcon violates both

Hughes-Simmons' constitutional right to appeal and the letter

and spirit of the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

Third, even assuming Hughes-Simmons' briefing was

inadequate, appellate courts may consider an inadequately

briefed legal or factual issue if its basis is apparent. DeHeer v.

Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 60 Wn.2d 122, 126, 372 P.2d 193

(1962). RAP 1.2(a) specifies "[t]hese rules will be liberally

interpreted to promote justice and facilitate the decision of

cases on the merits." This Court made this clear in State v.

Olson, 126 Wn.2d 315, 893 P.2d 629 fl995). In Olson, the

court held RAP 1.2(a) compelled it to overlook a technical

violation of the rules "where the violation is minor and results

in no prejudice to the other party and no more than a minimal

inconvenience to the appellate court." 126 Wn.2d at 319. For
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instance, an appellate court generally will not consider an issue

raised for the first time during oral argument where there is no

argument presented on the issues and no citation to authority

provided." Id. at 320. The court reiterated:

In a case where the nature of the appeal is clear
and the relevant issues are argued in the body of
the brief and citations are supplied so that the
Court is not greatly inconvenienced and the
respondent is not prejudiced, there is no
compelling reason for the appellate court not to
exercise its discretion to consider the merits of the

case or issue.

Id. at 323. Indeed, in Conner v. Universal Utilities, 105 Wn.2d

168, 171, 712 P.2d 849 (1986), this Court considered a RAP

2.5(a)(3) issue raised for the first time in the motion for

reconsideration.

Hughes-Simmons maintains there was not even a

technical violation of the RAPs here. But the point of Olson

still applies - appeals should be considered on their merits,

where the court "is not greatly inconvenienced and the

respondent is not prejudiced." 126 Wn.2d at 319, 323. There is
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no compelling reason why Hughes-Simmons' argument should

not be decided on its merits. The argument was sufficient for

the state to respond, and the state has neither been prejudiced

nor significantly impeded by any technical inadequacy in

Hughes-Simmons' argument.

Turning to the merits, the trial court abused its discretion

by refusing to rule on Hughes-Simmons' motion for mistrial. A

trial court's denial of mistrial motion is reviewed for abuse of

discretion. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 765, 278 P.3d 653

(2012). A trial court abuses its discretion "when its decision is

manifestly unreasonable, based on untenable grounds, or made

for untenable reasons." Fowler v. Johnson, 167 Wn. App. 596,

604, 273 P.3d 1042 (2012). A court also abuses its discretion as

a matter of law if it refuses to exercise the discretion it has.

State v. Grayson, 154 Wn.2d 333, 342, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005);

In re Mulholland, 161 Wn.2d 322, 333, 166 P.3d 677 (2007).

Phrased differently, "[a] court's decision is manifestly

unreasonable if it is outside the range of acceptable choices,
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given the facts and the applicable legal standard; it is based on

untenable grounds if the factual findings are unsupported by the

record; [and] it is based on untenable reasons if it is based on an

incorrect standard or the facts do not meet the requirements of

the correct standard." Ryan v. State, 112 Wn. App. 896, 900,51

P.3d 175 (2002).

The court's ruling here was untenable under the

circumstances. Hughes-Simmons lacked the benefit of

continuous counsel in the months leading up to the sentencing,

and it was unreasonable not to take this into consideration in

deciding whether to address his posttrial motion.

In addition, one of the primary reasons for the delay was

Hughes-Simmons' lack of access to his client file and discovery

to bring a motion, as he documented. CP 75-77, 130-31, 135,

137-39. By disregarding this issue, the trial court unreasonably

refused to consider the legitimate reasons for the delay. In other

circumstances where the client is without necessary files from

former counsel, equitable tolling applies to excuse the client
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who diligently pursues his rights. Fowler, 197 Wn.2d at 55-57.

Hughes-Simmons diligently pursued his motion for a new trial:

after his trial counsel was removed from the case and new

counsel was appointed, Hughes-Simmons filed a pro se motion

for a new trial. CP 56-59. Then, through later retained counsel,

who struggled to get documents necessary to represent Hughes-

Simmons, filed another motion for a new trial, asking for an

extension of time.

The trial court had discretion to continue sentencing and

hear Hughes-Simmons' motion for new trial. By concluding

further sentencing delay was unreasonable, the trial court

abused its discretion. Because the opinion departs from

established precedent and denies Hughes-Simmons his right to

appeal, this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(l)-

(b)(3).
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E. CONCLUSION

Hughes-Simmons asks this Court to grant review, reverse

and dismiss the firearm enhancements, and reverse his

convictions and remand for a new trial.

I certify that this document contains 4,994 words,
excluding those portions exempt under RAP 18.17.

DATED this 10th day of September, 2025.

Respectfully submitted,
NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC

JARED B. STEED,
WSBANo.40635
Attorney for Petitioner
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UNPUBLISHED OPINION

CRUSER, C.J. — Gregory Hughes-Simmons Jr. appeals his convictions for unlawful

possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver fentanyl while armed with a firearm,

unlawful possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver heroin, and unlawful

possession of a firearm in the first degree. He raises several issues on appeal. First, he argues there

was insufficient evidence to support the firearm sentencing enhancements. Second, he argues he

received ineffective assistance of counsel because his counsel had a conflict of interest, would not

call a critical defense witness, and could not present a complete defense. He also alleges he

received ineffective assistance of counsel because his counsel failed to object to evidence

regarding uncharged drug possession and failed to pursue an Old Chief stipulation. Third, he

1 Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S.172,117 S. Ct.644, 136 L. Ed. 2d 574 (1997).
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argues the court erred in not allowing counsel to withdraw on the basis of the alleged conflict of

interest. Finally, he argues the trial court erred in refusing to consider his motion for a new trial.

We conclude that sufficient evidence supported the firearm sentencing enhancements,

Hughes-Simmons does not show he received ineffective assistance of counsel, and the trial court

did not err in denying counsel's motion to withdraw. We decline to consider Hughes-Simmons

claim that the trial court erred in declining to consider his motion for a new trial. Accordingly, we

affirm.

FACTS

I. BACKGROUND2

In September 2021, Hughes-Simmons' supervising community corrections officer,

Howard Chea, received evidence from a Lakewood Police Department detective that Hughes-

Simmons had violated a condition of his community custody while under a Drug Offender

Sentencing Alternative. Chea called Hughes-Simmons and told him to report to the Department of

Correction's office. When Hughes-Simmons came in, Chea arrested him and placed him in the

back of a Department of Corrections vehicle. Chea read Hughes-Simmons Miranda-' warnings

while he was in the backseat of the vehicle.

Chea assembled a team and drove to the house ofHughes-Simmons' girlfriend, Naquaisha

Mays, to conduct a search. Officers searched the residence, and in a room containing men's

clothing, cologne, shoes, and mail that was addressed to Hughes-Simmons, officers discovered a

black 10"xl2" safe. Officer Bryan Piek found a second safe in that room that was white. After

2 This factual background is taken predominantly from testimony presented at trial.

3 Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602,16 L. Ed.2d 694 (1966).
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discovering the key to the white safe, officers opened it and found unknown yellow pills, a scale,

and baggies. Piek informed Mays that they needed to open the black safe, and Mays then told him

there was a firearm inside and that the contents of the safe belonged to her. Mays had the key to

the black safe and opened it. Officer Ryan Hamilton stated that inside the safe was a .40 caliber

firearm with a fully loaded magazine and a round in the chamber, five weapon magazines, fentanyl,

heroin, pills believed to be ecstasy, Ziploc baggies, and scales.

Hamilton stated that once they began to place Mays in custody, Hughes-Simmons yelled

from the car that "everything was his and that [Mays] had nothing to do with it. 2 Rep.of Proc.

(RP) at 224. Mays then admitted that she loved Hughes-Simmons and was trying to protect him

when she claimed possession of all the items in the safe. Hamilton read Hughes-Simmons Miranda

rights again. Hamilton said that Hughes-Simmons then told him that the drugs and the gun were

his. Hughes-Simmons told him he was selling pills in 100-quantity packs for $600. Hamilton also

testified that

[t]here was approximately a half ounce [of heroin]. And there was a smaller
quantity that looked like it was prepackaged for sale. [Hughes-Simmons] said that
that was his but that it had been found in a vehicle that he was using. He told me
that the firearm was initially purchased or initially obtained by Ms. Mays but it was
his now.

2 RP at 228.

Hughes-Simmons was then arrested and charged with two counts of unlawful possession

of a controlled substance with intent to deliver fentanyl and heroin. Both counts had a firearm

sentencing enhancement. Hughes-Simmons was also charged with unlawful possession of a

firearm in the first degree.

3
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II. MOTION TO WITHDRAW

Prior to trial, Hughes-Simmons' counsel, Dana Ryan, moved to withdraw based on the

"conflict of interest" created by a witness's intended testimony and his ethical obligations to the

court. 1 RP at 4. Counsel informed the court that after trying for 45 days to reach Mays, who was

on the witness list, he finally spoke with her. Counsel stated,

[B]ased upon what [Mays] told me, which was different than what was in the police
report, a conflict arose under [Rules of Profession Conduct] RPC 3.3, which
indicates that I have to basically present evidence, and I cannot present certain types
of evidence before the tribunal.

My client and I are in disagreement on that. He wants her to testify, but
based upon my conversation with her, I cannot get around the conflict of interest
that has arisen.

And when I talked to her, I indicated, the first thing I said is, "I'm Gregory
Simmons-Hughes' attorney. I'm not your attorney. If you come here to testify in
Pierce County and you testify consistent with what is in the police report, you have
to be represented by counsel because that would subject you to potential criminal
charges." And so as I explained that to her and how I would get an attorney for her
and we started to talk about that, the conversation became problematic for me
because of certain things that came out.

1RP at 4-5.

The trial court asked Hughes-Simmons if he wanted to be heard on the motion to withdraw

and he replied,

I'm just lost. Your Honor. To be honest, I'm just lost and confused. I haven't been
in contact with my attorney. I mean, I'm coming in in the dark, you know. I really
don't—I just want to get this done, get this all figured out, settled, but I really have
no—it doesn't bother me. I want to be able to have a fair trial if it does go to trial,
you know, so that's why, I mean, whatever you got to do, you got to do.

1 RP at 8-9. Relying on State v. Perra, No. 83418-5-1 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 21, 2022)

(unpublished), http://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf/834185.pdf, the court stated that:

4
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RPC [3.3(a)(4)] prohibits an attorney from presenting evidence that they
know is false. RPC 3.3 let's an attorney refuse to offer evidence that the lawyer
reasonably believes is false.

Every attorney has a special duty to prevent and disclose frauds upon the
Court.

Thus, an attorney's loyalty is limited to legitimate lawful conduct and does
not require taking steps or in any way assisting the client in presenting false
evidence.

1RP at 12-13.

The trial court denied Hughes-Simmons' counsel's motion to withdraw concluding:

Mr. Hughes-Simmons deserves timely justice, as does the State.
I have considered as well the fact that whoever the next attorney is may very

well suffer the same ethical dilemma that you are, Mr. Ryan. There is no indication
that, in fact, it will be any different.

So I have considered all of those things, and after having carefully
considered all of those things and the Rules of Professional Conduct and the case
cited and the cases that that case cites, I'm respectfully denying your motion for
withdrawal.

1RP at 14-15.

Also prior to trial, when going over motions in limine, Hughes-Simmons' counsel told the

trial court that "[Hughes-Simmons] will not stipulate as to any prior convictions." 1 RP at 17.

III. TRIAL

At trial, Hamilton testified regarding the contents of the black safe. RP (Feb. 28, 2023) at

236. Hamilton said that there was a bag offentanyl pills not packaged for sale as well as five 100-

count baggies of fentanyl that were prepackaged for sale and that this was consistent with what

Hughes-Simmons had told him about selling the drugs. Hamilton testified that there was also

approximately a half ounce of heroin which was more than a personal use amount as well as a

separate, smaller packaged quantity that was consistent with a personal use amount and consistent

with distribution. Hamilton stated that the Ziploc baggies and two scales found were both
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consistent with packaging narcotics to sell and that firearm possession was also consistent with

selling drugs for protection purposes and to prevent drugs from being stolen. He explained that in

his experience "a lot of people who are selling drugs carry firearms for their own protection so that

they are not robbed of their money or their product in what we call drug rips." 2 RP at 249.

Detective Darin Sale testified that the firearm recovered was operable.

Hamilton stated twice during trial that he believed there were ecstasy pills found in the

safe. Piek also testified that there were unknown yellow pills in the white safe. Hughes-Simmons'

counsel did not object to this testimony. When the State moved to admit the exhibit of the alleged

ecstasy pills, Hughes-Simmons' counsel objected on relevance grounds stating, "I don't believe

my client has been charged with possession of ecstasy, so this would not be relevant to any of the

charges at issue here. It would just be prejudicial." 2 RP at 239-240. The trial court sustained this

objection and denied the motion to admit the alleged ecstasy pills because the probative value of

the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

The State also moved to admit exhibits 20 and 21 as evidence of Hughes-Simmons'

convictions from juvenile court for attempted residential burglary and unlawful possession of a

firearm in the second degree. Defense counsel objected stating, "these [documents] are more

prejudicial than probative, and I will leave it with that." 2 RP at 254. The trial court overruled the

objection and admitted evidence of the previous convictions.

After both sides had rested, the State brought up the potential prejudice Hughes-Simmons

might face due to his previous convictions being admitted. The State told the trial court that it had

brought a redacted copy of exhibit 20 should the defense move to use that version instead of the

previously admitted one.

6
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The trial court stated that "[t]he defendant was offered an Old Chief stipulation. He

declined that, and that's fine. That's his right to accept it. It's his right to decline it. . . . Both sides

have rested. That said, if you—you are not asking to enter an Old C/z/e/stipulation at this point?"

3 RP at 373. Defense counsel responded, "I should talk to my client about that, Your Honor. I

didn't previously. I think that—I don't know if he really understood that analysis, and I'm not sure

if we are too late in the game to do that." 3 RP at 373. The court responded, "You might be. Both

sides have rested." 3 RP at 373.

The State clarified that it was just proposing a redaction. Exhibit 20 was withdrawn and

exhibit 20A was admitted, which redacted Hughes-Simmons' conviction for unlawful possession

of a firearm in the second degree.

The jury found Hughes-Simmons guilty of both counts of unlawful possession of a

controlled substance with intent to deliver and found that he was armed with a firearm for both

offenses. The jury also found him guilty of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree.

IV. MOTIONS FOR A NEW TRIAL AND SENTENCING

At a sentencing hearing, defense counsel asked the trial court to appoint Hughes-Simmons

new counsel. Hughes-Simmons expressed frustration regarding his retained counsel, stating,

Your Honor, he has not given me no advice. He has been ineffective. He's not
answering none of my phone calls. He complains about me giving him money, and
that's what this whole conflict is. He is not working for me because I have not
finished giving him the rest of the money, and I feel like he would not deserve the
rest of the money because he has not given me adequate representation on this case.

6 RP at 445. The court orally stated that it would appoint the Department of Assigned Counsel to

represent Hughes-Simmons.

Roughly six weeks later Hughes-Simmons filed a motion for a new trial pro se.

7
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At another sentencing hearing some five weeks later, Hughes-Simmons was represented

by counsel, John Cyr. Hughes-Simmons moved the trial court to allow him to proceed pro se.

After inquiring into why Hughes-Simmons wanted to represent himself and advising him of the

disadvantages of self-representation, the court granted his motion. Sentencing was continued until

September 8.

In early July, new counsel appeared on Hughes-Simmons' behalf. In late August Hughes-

Simmons' new counsel filed a motion to continue sentencing again. The trial court denied this

motion.

Just prior to the sentencing hearing, Hughes-Simmons' counsel filed a motion for a new

trial pursuant to CrR 7.5(a), arguing that Hughes-Simmons received ineffective assistance of

counsel at trial and that the court erred by holding a sidebar conference regarding the use of

peremptory strikes without memorializing it on the record. The motion requested an extension of

time under CrR 7.5 (b), a new trial and, in the alternative, an evidentiary hearing to further develop

the record. Attached to the motion was a declaration from defense investigator, Howard Hayes,

who was hired to try to obtain the client file from Hughes-Simmons' trial counsel, Ryan. Hayes

stated that after making contact, Ryan told him he would get the client file when he could and that

"perhaps when he [Hughes-Simmons] sends me a check for trying his case I can get to it." Clerk's

Papers (CP) at 139. The motion, including appendices totaled 356 pages.

At the sentencing hearing, defense counsel renewed the motion to continue sentencing, in

part because defense counsel had not received the client file from Hughes-Simmons' prior counsel.

4T+;It is unclear from the record whether Cyr was from the Department of Assigned Counsel or not.
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The court denied this motion. The court also addressed the motion for a new trial and stated, "I'm

not inclined to hear a motion for a new trial at this time based on the recent filing." 8 RP at 477.

The trial court sentenced Hughes-Simmons to 159 months of confinement and 12 months

of community custody.

Hughes-Simmons appeals.

ANALYSIS

I. SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE

Hughes-Simmons argues there was insufficient evidence to support his convictions on the

firearm sentencing enhancements. We disagree.

A. Legal Principles

We review challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence de novo. State v. Berg, 181 Wn.2d

857, 867, 337 P.3d 310 (2014). When reviewing a sufficiency of the evidence claim, we must

determine '"whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any

rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.'" In re Pers. Restraint of

Arntsen, 2 Wn.3d 716, 724, 543 P.3d 821 (2024) (quoting State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201,

829 P.2d 1068 (1992)). "A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all

inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." Salinas, 119 Wn.2d at 201. This standard of

review is deferential, "and questions of credibility, persuasiveness, and conflicting testimony must

be left to the jury." In re Pers. Restraint ofMartinez, 171 Wn.2d 354, 364, 256 P.3d 277 (2011).

To prove a person is armed for purposes of the firearm sentence enhancement, "the State

must prove (1) that a firearm was easily accessible and readily available for offensive or defensive

purposes during the commission of the crime and (2) that a nexus exists among the defendant, the

I1
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weapon, and the crime." State v. Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn.2d 798, 826, 425 P.3d 807 (2018).

To determine if there is a nexus between the defendant, the weapon, and the crime, we look "at

the nature of the crime, the type of weapon, and the circumstances under which it was found." Id.

at 827. "This nexus requirement is critical because '[t]he right of the individual citizen to bear

arms in defense of himself, or the State, shall not be impaired.'" State v. Neff, 163 Wn.2d 453, 462,

181 P.3d 819 (2008) (quoting WASH. CONST. art. I, § 24.).

A defendant need not be armed at the time of arrest to be armed for the purposes of a

firearm enhancement, and "the State need not establish with mathematical precision the specific

time and place that a weapon was readily available and easily accessible, so long as it was at the

time of the crime." State v. O'Neal, 159 Wn.2d 500, 504-05, 150 P.3d 1121 (2007).

Hughes-Simmons relies on State v. Gurske, 155 Wn.2d 134, 118 P.3d 333 (2005), in

arguing he was not armed for purposes of the firearm sentencing enhancement. In Gurske, the

defendant was arrested for driving with a suspended license. Id. at 136. The arresting officer

searched Gurske's vehicle and found a backpack behind the driver's seat that contained an

unloaded firearm, a firearm magazine, and methamphetamine. Id.

Gurske was charged and convicted of possession of a controlled substance while armed

with a deadly weapon. Id. On appeal, the Washington Supreme Court reversed, concluding that

when the officer stopped Gurske, there was no evidence that Gurske could readily remove the

firearm from the zipped backpack, and there was no evidence he had easy access to use the firearm

against someone while he was in possession of the drugs. Id. at 143-44.

However, in Sassen Van Elsloo, the court clarified that the mere proximity of the defendant

to the firearm is not the salient question. See 191 Wn.2d at 826. In Sassen Van Elsloo, officers

10
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searched Sassen Van Elsloo's vehicle and found numerous items consistent with drug sales,

including a shotgun in the cargo hold, a large amount of drugs, baggies, and a digital scale. Id. at

802-03. Sassen Van Elsloo was charged with nine felony counts, five of which had firearm

enhancements. Id. at 803.

On appeal, the Washington Supreme Court reiterated that the relevant question for

purposes of the firearm sentencing enhancement is whether the firearm was "easily accessible and

readily available for use for either offensive or defensive purposes." Id. at 826. The court stated

that "when the crime is of a continuing nature, such as a drug operation, a nexus exists if the

firearm is 'there to be used' in the commission of the crime." Id. at 828 (quoting Gurske, 155

Wn.2d at 138). The court ultimately found there was sufficient evidence to find a nexus between

the shotgun and Sassen Van Elsloo's possession and distribution of drugs. Id. at 830. The court

relied in part on the fact that the gun "was found less than a foot from the backpack, which

contained the drugs[,]" the gun had a shell in the magazine and could be readily fired, and the gun

was placed in the car in such a way that it could be quickly grabbed. Id.

B. Analysis

The State presented sufficient evidence that Hughes-Simmons was engaged in possessing

illegal drugs with intent to deliver and was armed with a firearm. Here, unlike Gurske, Hughes-

Simmons was charged with possession with intent to deliver rather than mere possession of a

controlled substance. There is a significant difference between those crimes. Possession with the

intent to deliver involves participation in activity in which, according to Hamilton's testimony,

there is significant potential for violence. This is a matter of common understanding. Hamilton

further testified that Hughes-Simmons told him the drugs and the firearm belonged to him and that

11
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he was selling the fentanyl pills in 100-packs for $600. Hamilton also stated that the smaller

packaged heroin found was consistent with an amount used for distribution purposes. Like Sassen

Van Elsloo, the firearm was found right next to the drugs and the other instrumentalities of the

drug selling operation. The firearm had a round in the chamber and was readily capable of being

fired. Further, Hamilton testified that possession of a firearm was consistent with the sale of

narcotics and that drug sellers would often carry firearms to defend against "drug rips," in which

the seller is robbed of their money or drugs. 2 RP at 249.

Hughes-Simmons' suggestion that the gun's location in a locked safe demonstrates it was

not readily available for offensive or defensive use is unpersuasive. Viewing the evidence in the

light most favorable to the State, the firearm's presence in the location where the drugs and other

instrumentalities of the operation were stored could lead a rational trier of fact to conclude that the

firearm was "there to be used" in the commission of the drug sales. See Sassen Van Elsloo, 191

Wn.2d at 828. A rational trier of fact could also conclude that there was a nexus between Hughes-

Simmons, the firearm, and the drug distribution. Accordingly, sufficient evidence supported the

jury's verdict on the firearm enhancements.

II. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

Hughes-Simmons alleges he received ineffective assistance of counsel on three grounds.

As we discuss below, we disagree with two of the contentions and decline to review the third.

To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show (1) counsel's

representation was so deficient it fell '"below an objective standard of reasonableness'" and (2)

that deficiency prejudiced the defendant. State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 32-33, 246 P.3d 1260

(2011) (quoting and applying test from Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88, 104 S.
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Ct. 2052,80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)). Failure to satisfy either requirement defeats the claim. State v.

Bertrand, 3 Wn.3d 116, 128, 546 P.3d 1020 (2024).

First, "[t]he defendant must overcome 'a strong presumption that counsel's performance

was reasonable.'" Id. at 130 (quoting State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009)).

Legitimate trial strategy or tactics cannot serve as the basis for a claim of ineffective assistance of

counsel. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d at 863. A "defendant can rebut the presumption of reasonable

performance by demonstrating that 'there is no conceivable legitimate tactic explaining counsel's

performance.'" Grier, 171 Wn.2d at 33 (quoting State v. Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101

P.3d 80 (2004)). Specifically, to show ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to object, "a

defendant must show that an objection would likely have been sustained." State v. Fortun-Cebada,

158 Wn. App. 158, 172, 241 P.3d 800 (2010). Further, "the decision 'to call a witness is a matter

of legitimate trial tactics that presumptively does not support a claim of ineffective assistance of

counsel.'" In re Pers. Restraint of Quintero, 29 Wn. App. 2d 254, 286, 541 P.3d 1007 (quoting

State v. Davis, 174 Wn. App. 623, 639, 300 P.3d 465 (2013)), review denied, 3 Wn.3d 1018 (2024).

'"A defendant can overcome this presumption by showing that counsel failed to adequately

investigate or prepare for trial.'" Id. (quoting Davis, 174 Wn. App.at 639).

Second, prejudice requires showing that but for counsel's deficient performance, "there is

a reasonable probability . . . the result of the proceeding would have differed." State v. Estes, 193

Wn. App. 479, 488, 372 P.3d 163 (2016). '"A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to

undermine confidence in the outcome.'" In re Pers. Restraint of Grace, 174 Wn.2d 835, 840, 280

P.3d 1102 (2012) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694). "[T]he ultimate 'question is whether there

is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt

j
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respecting guilt.'" Bertrand, 3 Wn.3d at 129 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 695). Therefore,

"[p]rejudice exists when there is 'a probability sufficient to undermine [the court's] confidence in

the outcome.'" Id. (alteration in original) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694).

A^Alleged Conflict of Interest

First, Hughes-Simmons argues he received ineffective assistance of counsel because his

counsel created a conflict of interest by not calling IVtays to testify and failing to adequately present

a defense. We disagree.

1. Legal Principles

Our court has recently addressed this issue in Perra, No. 83418-5-1, which the trial court

here relied on. In Perra, trial counsel refused to call Perra as a witness because the defendant

indicated he was going to present false testimony. Id., slip op. at 4-5. This court held that there

was no conflict of interest created by counsel's refusal to present false testimony, and that the RPC

actually required counsel not to present this testimony. Id., slip op. at 8-9. While Perra is

unpublished and not binding, we find its sources and reasoning compelling.

Under RFC 3.3(a)(4), an attorney is prohibited from presenting evidence they know to be

false. RPC 3.3(e) lets an attorney "refuse to offer evidence that the lawyer reasonably believes is

false." An attorney's duty of loyalty to their client is "limited to legitimate, lawful conduct" and

does not require "taking steps or in any way assisting the client in presenting false evidence." Nix

v. Whiteside, 475 U.S. 157, 166, 106 S. Ct. 988, 89 L. Ed. 2d 123 (1986). Therefore, "a defendant

has no legitimate interest that conflicts with [their] attorney's obligation not to tolerate perjury and

to adhere to the Rules of Professional Conduct." State v. Berrysmith, 87 Wn. App. 268, 277, 944

P.2d 397 (1997).
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2. Analysis

Here, Hughes-Simmons cannot show that counsel's refusal to call a witness who he

believed was going to present false testimony was deficient performance. Despite trial counsel's

characterization of his refusal to call Mays to testify as a "conflict of interest," it was not. 1 RP at

4. Pursuant to RPC 3.3(a)(4), Hughes-Simmons' trial counsel was prohibited from offering

testimony he knew to be false, and under RFC 3.3(e), he was allowed to refuse to offer testimony

he reasonably believed to be false. Counsel based his conclusion that Mays would present false

testimony on the conversation he had with her and what she told him she was going to testify to at

trial. Hughes-Simmons fails to show how counsel's belief based on this conversation was

unreasonable. Hughes-Simmons fails to demonstrate how counsel's adherence to the RPC created

a legitimate conflict between himself and defense counsel, as a defendant has no legitimate interest

that conflicts with their attorney's obligation to adhere to the RPC. Further, the decision to call a

particular witness lies within the discretion of trial counsel, and Hughes-Simmons fails to show

that his counsel did not adequately investigate or prepare for trial. Therefore, his ineffective

assistance of counsel claim due to an alleged conflict of interest created by counsel's refusal to

call a witness fails.

B. Uncharged Possession of Ecstasy

Second, Hughes-Simmons argues he received ineffective assistance of counsel because his

counsel failed to object to testimony regarding his alleged unlawful possession of ecstasy that was

not charged. We disagree.

Even if Hughes-Simmons could show deficient performance, he cannot show prejudice.

Despite counsel's failure to object to three instances of testimony regarding the ecstasy pills,
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counsel did object to the admission of the ecstasy pills being admitted as evidence. Further, this

testimony did not overshadow the overwhelming evidence against Hughes-Simmons, including

Hamilton's testimony that Hughes-Simmons confessed to owning the contents of the black safe

and selling drugs and his testimony regarding the drugs, firearm, baggies, and scales as evidence

consistent with drug sales. Therefore, Hughes-Simmons cannot show the result of the proceeding

would have differed had his counsel objected to the testimony regarding the ecstasy.

C. Old CA?e/'Stipulation

Third, Hughes-Simmons alleges he received ineffective assistance of counsel because

counsel did not request an Old C/z/e/stipulation. We disagree.

1. Legal Principles

Under RCW 9.41.040(l)(a), a person commits unlawful possession of a fireann in the first

degree "if the person owns, accesses, has in the person's custody, control, or possession, or

receives any firearm after having previously been convicted . . . in this state or elsewhere of any

serious offense." '"The existence of a constitutionally valid prior conviction is an essential element

of the offense, one the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt.'" State v. Lopez, 107 Wn.

App. 270, 276, 27 P.3d 237 (2001) (quoting State v. Reed, 84 Wn. App. 379, 384, 928 P.2d 469

(1997)).

"In Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172, 117 S. Ct. 644, 136 L. Ed. 2d 574 (1997), the

United States Supreme Court recognized the prejudicial effect that evidence of a defendant's prior

conviction may have on the trial." State v. Streepy, 199 Wn. App. 487, 502, 400 P.3d 339 (2017).

Accordingly, the Court announced that "a trial court abuses its discretion when it fails to accept a

[defendant's] stipulation to a prior conviction upon [the defendant's] request." State v. Humphries,
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181 Wn.2d708.717.336P.Sd 1121 (2014) (emphasis omitted). "The most the jury needs to know

is that the conviction admitted by the defendant falls within the class of crimes that [the legislature]

thought should bar a convict from possessing a gun." Old Chief, 519 U.S. at 190-91.

2^Ana!Y_si.s

Here, Hughes-Simmons' counsel did not request an Old C/?;e/stipulation and indicated,

after both sides had rested, that he had not gone over the potential for such a stipulation with his

client. Hughes-Simmons stipulating to previous unnamed convictions could have kept his

convictions for attempted residential burglary and unlawful possession of a firearm in the second

degree from reaching the jury through testimony. On the other hand, the decision whether to offer

an Old C/!;e/stipulation is a tactical one entrusted to defense counsel. See, e.g., Streepy, 199 Wn.

App. at 504. The risk of offering an Old C/!;e/stipulation is obvious: the jury is liable to speculate

about the crime the defendant committed. The jury might speculate that it is a far more serious

crime than the actual conviction, which could be detrimental to the defendant. Allowing the jury

to hear what the actual conviction was prevents the risk of this type of speculation. As there are

potential advantages and disadvantages to any decision in this situation, we will not second guess

trial counsel's decision on this matter.

However, even if Hughes-Simmons could show that counsel performed deficiently by

failing to request an Old CA/e/stipulation, Hughes-Simmons cannot show prejudice resulting from

counsel's failure to do so, as there was overwhelming evidence supporting his conviction. Nothing

suggests that the proceeding would have differed had the jury not been told the specific nature of

Hughes-Simmons' previous convictions because even if that evidence had come in under an Old

CA/e/stipulation, the jury could still rely on Hughes-Simmons' own statements to Hamilton that

17



No. 58643-6-11

the drugs and the firearm were his and that he sold the drugs. The jury could also rely on

Hamilton's testimony regarding the drugs, firearm, baggies, and scales as evidence consistent with

drug sales. Accordingly, we conclude Hughes-Simmons has failed to show prejudice and,

therefore, failed to show that he received ineffective assistance of counsel.

III. MOTION TO WITHDRAW

Hughes-Simmons argues the trial court erred in denying counsel's motion to withdraw

based on trial counsel's perceived "conflict of interest." Br. of Appellant at 52. We disagree.

A. Legal Principles

We "review RPC conflict issues, and related motions to withdraw, de novo." State v.

O'Neil, 198 Wn. App. 537, 542, 393 P.3d 1238 (2017). While withdrawal is usually left to the trial

court's discretion, "whether a conflict exists requiring withdrawal is a question of law." Id. at 543.

B. Analysis

Here, as explained above, there was no actual conflict of interest requiring Hughes-

Simmons counsel to withdraw. Hughes-Simmons had no legitimate interest that conflicted with

his attorney's obligation to adhere to the RPC. Therefore, the trial court did not err in denying

counsel's motion to withdraw.

IV. MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL

Hughes-Simmons argues the trial court erred in refusing to consider his motion for a new

trial. Because Hughes-Simmons presents inadequate briefing on this assignment of error, we

decline to consider his argument.

RAP 10.3(a)(6) requires that an appellate brief contain "argument in support of the issues

presented for review, together with citations to legal authority and references to relevant parts of
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the record." We "will not consider claims insufficiently argued by the parties." State v. Elliott, 114

Wn.2d 6, 15, 785 P.2d 440 (1990); Norcon Builders, LLC v. GMP Homes VG, LLC, 161 Wn. App.

474, 486, 254 P.3d 835 (2011) ("We will not consider an inadequately briefed argument.").

Here, Hughes-Simmons has failed to identify the appropriate standard of review, failed to

indicate whether this error is subject to harmless error analysis, and failed to cite apposite legal

authority5 supporting his argument for why the trial court erred in not considering his motion for

5 The section ofHughes-Simmons' brief related to this assignment of error contains citation to one
authority: In re Pers. Restraint of Fowler, 197 Wn.2d 46, 50, 479 P.3d 1164 (2021) (holding that
equitable tolling was warranted to allow petitioner time to file a personal restraint petition due to
the misconduct of his previous counsel). This authority, however, is not relevant to Hughes-
Simmons' argument regarding the trial court's consideration of an untimely filed motion for a new
trial.
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a new trial. His failure to provide relevant citations to legal authority supporting his argument is

fatal to his claim, and we decline to address its merits.6

CONCLUSION

Sufficient evidence supported the firearm sentencing enhancements. Hughes-Simmons

fails to show he received ineffective assistance of counsel, and the trial court did not err in denying

counsel's motion to withdraw. Further, we decline to consider his argument that the trial court

erred in refusing to consider the motion for a new trial. Accordingly, we affirm.

6 If we were to address the merits of this claim, we note that CrR 7.5(b) requires that the motion
be brought within ten days of the verdict. The jury returned guilty verdicts on March 3, 2023.
Hughes-Simmons initially filed this motion on May 15, but failed to pursue it by asking for a
hearing. Then, almost four months later, on the date set for sentencing, Hughes-Simmons' new
counsel filed a new motion for a new trial. One of the arguments set forth in the motion is also
raised in this appeal, namely whether trial counsel was ineffective in failing to call Mays as a
witness. We conclude in this opinion that Hughes-Simmons has not demonstrated ineffective
assistance of counsel. The second argument raised in the motion for new trial is that the trial court
erred in conducting a side bar conference during voir dire without later memorializing for the
record what was discussed at the sidebar. To the extent Hughes-Simmons argues his right to a
public trial was violated, there was no closure here where the parties struck jurors at a sidebar that
was not memorialized. In State v. Effinger, we held that there was no closure where parties
exercised peremptory and for cause strikes at a sidebar that was not transcribed. 194 Wn. App.
554, 561-62, 375 P.3d 701 (2016); see also State v. Love, 183 Wn.2d 598, 606-07, 354 P.3d 841
(2015). The conclusion was based on that fact that the record included the case sheet showing
which jurors were excused, the questioning of potential jurors took place in open court in front of
everyone, no one was asked to leave the courtroom, and the jury was empaneled in open court.
Effmger, 194 Wn. App. at 561-62; Love, 183 Wn.2d at 606-07. Similarly, here, while we do not
have the jury selection sheet in the record before us, the questioning of potential jurors took place
in open court, no one was asked to leave the courtroom, and the jury was empaneled in open court.
Therefore, we conclude there was no closure, and Hughes-Simmons' has not demonstrated that
his right to a public trial was violated.
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A majority of the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW

2.06.040, it is so ordered

We concur:

^^
/

VELJt\CIC, J.

^

BIRK, J.7

1

CRUSER, c.r~r

7 Judge Birk is serving in Division Two of this court pursuant to RCW 2.06.040.
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ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR
RECONSIDERATION

Appellant Gregory Lamont Hughes-Simmons Jr. moves for reconsideration of the court's

unpublished opinion filed in this matter on June 10, 2025. After consideration, this court denies

the motion. Accordingly, it is

SO ORDERED.
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